A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Mickey Fowler, Leisa Fowler, and a certified class of over 25,000 

teachers in Teachers Retirement System (TRS) Plan 3 ask this Court to 

accept review of this case. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS 

The Court of Appeals decisions on review are the published 

opinion in Probst v. Dept. of Retirement Systems (DRS), 167 Wn. App. 

180,271 P.3d 966 (Div. II, 2012), and the subsequent unpublished 

decision on appeal after remand, No. 45128-0-II, 2014 WL 7467567 

(Dec. 30, 2014). 1 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that the statute, 

RCW 41.04.445, that gave all pension system members a right to "accrued 

interest" on their accounts did not apply to TRS, when the statute 

explicitly states that it does apply to TRS accounts? 

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to decide 

constitutional taking claims and remanding the case to DRS, where 

(1) DRS has no competence to consider or decide constitutional taking 

1 Plaintiffs could not earlier seek review of two issues they did not win in the published 
Probst opinion because they were not "aggrieved parties" under RAP 3.1 (seep. 4 infra). 
Indeed, DRS moved to reconsider the decision and its motion was denied. CP 37, 132. 
With respect to the statutory issue the teachers lost in the first appeal, the Court of 
Appeals should have corrected its earlier error in the second appeal. RAP 2.5(c)(2); 
Eserhut v. Heister, 62 Wn.App. 10, 14,812 P.2d 902 (1991). 
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claims, (2) the claims have now been pending for ten years or more, 

(3) DRS has conceded all elements ofthe takings claim, and (4) plaintiffs 

have a right to have their constitutional issues decided by a court? 

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in remanding this class action 

for rulemaking when this case never involved rulemaking and plaintiffs 

actually challenged DRS's historical practice of denying interest on their 

accounts 20 years ago? 

4. Did the Court of Appeals err in construing RAP 12.9(a)? 

D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

Facts. The plaintiff class of TRS members ("teachers") transferred 

from TRS Plan 2 to Plan 3 in 1996-97. The transfer to Plan 3 meant that 

TRS members would cut in halftheir defined benefits (from 2% of final 

compensation per year of service down to 1% per year). The employers' 

contributions, plus investment gains, remained in the TRS Plan 2/3 fund to 

pay for the reduced defined benefit. In exchange for the reduced pension 

benefit, the teachers would withdraw their employee contributions plus 

accumulated interest from their TRS Plan 2 accounts and place these funds 

into new self-directed investment accounts in TRS Plan 3. 2 

The beginning principal balance of a teacher's individual TRS 

Plan 3 account was thus the total of all the teacher's Plan 2 employee 

2 
RCW 41.32.817; --.831(2); --.840(1); --.8401; RCW 41.34.060. 
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contributions, with all the interest accrued in the teacher's Plan 2 accounts, 

plus an incentive match. The amount transferred was important because 

anything less would diminish both future investment returns and the 

amount available for the teacher's retirement. CP 803 (Fowler testimony). 

DRS promised TRS Plan 2 members they would accrue interest at 

5.5% per annum, compounded quarterly. 167 Wn. App. at 183.3 DRS, 

however, did not record ("post") any interest on some or all funds 

deposited in Plan 2 accounts for varying periods. /d. at 183, 193. DRS 

tracked TRS members' interest only in the quarterly "postings" and any 

interest not so "posted" was forever disregarded and neither added to the 

account nor compounded. This meant that DRS did not track accrued 

interest on any funds in an account for less than one full quarter, and 

sometimes considerably longer. /d. 

DRS admitted that by this "posting" practice it denied the teachers 

the full 5.5% per annum interest it promised. /d. at 183, 193; AR 23. 

When the teachers transferred to TRS Plan 3 in 1996-97, any ofthe 

teachers' accrued interest that was not "posted" was kept in the Plan 2/3 

fund, and used to fund the benefits that were supposed to be funded 

exclusively by employers. CP 670. 

Procedure. Plaintiffs brought this action because all the accrued 

3 Further facts and record citations are in the Fowlers' Opening Brief at 3-9. 
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interest in their Plan 2 accounts, not just the "posted" interest, should have 

transferred to their Plan 3 individual accounts.4 167 Wn. App. at 182-83. 

The Court of Appeals in Probst identified three issues in the 

teachers' claims, id. at 183, and decided them as follows. It (1) "d[id] not 

reach the Fowlers' constitutional takings argument" because the case was 

"resolved on other grounds," id. at 183 n. 1, (2) it rejected the Fowlers' 

statutory/common law argument, id. at 191, and (3) it decided the arbitrary 

and capricious argument in the teachers' favor, id. at 183, 191, 194. 

The Court of Appeals found DRS was arbitrary and capricious in 

its pre-1996 historical interest posting practice due to its ''unfairness" and 

DRS's failure to follow the "industry standard" of interest accrual (interest 

accrues from deposit date to withdrawal date), from 1977 up to the 1996-

97 transfers. 167 Wn. App. at 183, 191, 194. 

DRS, however, argued that it had really prevailed in the Probst 

appeal, not the Fowlers, CP 107, 123, and that it could establish that its 

interest practice had not been arbitrary and capricious by retroactively 

rewriting a 1977 interest policy. CP 146-48, 169-70. The trial court 

agreed with DRS and remanded the case to DRS. CP 209, 238. DRS said 

4 This TRS (Fowler) class action was filed in 2009 as a supplemental complaint to a 
previous Probst class action (PERS interest calculations), which in tum had been 
consolidated with a petition for review. 167 Wn. App. at 184. The Probst class action 
and petition for review were settled, and the parties agreed that the Fowler class action 
would be decided on the record of the Probst petition, because the relevant facts 
concerning interest accruals on PERS and TRS accounts are the same. !d. (The Probst 
caption remained on the case despite the settlement of the Probst claim.) 
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that issuance of the new rule justifying its practice would be followed by 

another administrative adjudication and decision, followed by an entirely 

new appeal through the courts. CP 148. 

The Fowlers appealed again, contending, among other things, that 

the trial court's remand to DRS for retroactive rulemaking violated the 

mandate because rulemaking could not retroactively correct an "arbitrary 

and capricious" practice that had already been fully completed at that time 

of Plan 3 transfers in 1996-97. Moreover, the Fowlers contended, the trial 

court's remand ofthe case to DRS wrongly denied them a hearing on their 

constitutional Takings Clause claim and the Court of Appeals erred in 

ruling against them on the statutory claim. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. Review is Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because This Case 
Concerns Whether the Accrued Interest Statute, RCW 
41.04.445(4), Requires DRS to Pay More Than 25,000 Teachers 
the Interest Earned on Their Contributions. 

The Legislature cannot "abrogate" the common law rule that 

interest is earned on deposits in interest-bearing accounts from the day of 

deposit to the day of withdrawal because that interest is a fundamental 

property right protected by the Constitution. See infra 9-10. In Probst the 

Court of Appeals decided, however, that the Legislature abrogated the 

common law through a 2007 statute that provides DRS discretion on when 

to "credit" interest on members' accounts. 167 Wn.App. at 190-91. 
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The Legislature did not abrogate the common law rule, however, 

because RCW 41.04.445(4) still expressly requires "[a]ll member 

contributions ... plus the accrued interest earned thereon, shall be paid 

[by DRS] to the member upon the withdrawal of funds or lump sum 

payment of accumulated contributions." RCW 41.04.445( 4) (emphasis 

added). "Accrued interest" is not defined, and the term therefore has the 

ordinary dictionary meaning. Quadrant Corp. v. Hearings Bd., 154 

Wn.2d 224, 239, 110 P.3d 1132 (2005). "Accrued interest" means 

"interest earned, though not credited or otherwise paid." Dictionary of 

Banking Terms (4th ed. 2000), p. 7, AR 684 (emphasis added).5 RCW 

41.04.445(4) thus implements the common law rule that interest accrues 

from day to day on principal, even if payable only at intervals, because 

"accrued interest" means "interest earned, though not credited [posted] or 

otherwise paid" 

In Dean, this Court held that a very similar statute providing that 

inmates shall receive "accrued interest" on their deposits upon their 

release created a constitutionally protected property right to receive all the 

interest earned in their accounts. Dean v. Lehman, 143 Wn.2d 12, 34-35, 

5 Other dictionaries agree. "Accrued interest" is "interest earned since the last settlement 
date but not yet due or payable." Webster's Third New International Dictionary (1976), 
p. 13, AR 662. Black's Law Dictionary (7th ed. 1999), "accrued interest" means "interest 
that is earned but not yet paid." AR 668 (Black's definition of accrued interest was cited 
by DRS, AR 714). "Accrued interest" is "[i]nterest earned but not yet due and payable." 
Dictionary of Banking (1994), p. 5; AR 672. 
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18 P.3d 523 (2001). Thus, even assuming arguendo that the right to 

receive interest that accrues on funds from the date of deposit to the date 

of withdrawal were not a core property right protected by the U.S. 

Constitution, the Legislature created a constitutionally protected property 

right in that interest when it required DRS to pay members their "accrued 

interest" when they withdraw their funds. 6 !d. 

The Court of Appeals erred by disregarding the accrued interest 

statute (RCW 41.04.445(4)) based on its statement that "the words 

'accrued interest' never appear in the relevant TRS statutes" and it 

declined to "interpret an undefined term in a tangentially related statute[.]" 

167 Wn.App. at 189 n. 7. But rather than being "a tangentially related 

statute," RCW 41.04.445( 4) governs the exact situation here because it 

concerns what DRS must pay to pension system members when they 

withdraw funds from a retirement plan. 

The Court of Appeals thought RCW 41.04.445 is "tangential" 

because it thought the statute did not apply to TRS. 167 Wn. App. at 189 

n. 7. But the statute expressly "applies to all members who are ... under 

the retirement systems established by chapter 41.32 [TRS]" and it governs 

the payment of accrued interest when a member withdraws the funds from 

6 States may not encroach by statute upon core property rights protected by the 
Constitution, but States may by statute confer new property rights protected by 
Constitution. Schneider v. Cal. Dep 't of Corrections, 151 F .3d 1194, 1200-01 (9th Cir. 
1998 ("The States' power vis-a-vis property ... operates as a one-way ratchet of sorts"). 
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TRS Plan 2 accounts. RCW 41.04.445(1)(c). The DRS presiding officer 

made this same kind of error in the administrative action, saying the 

section did not apply, and DRS itself asked the presiding officer to correct 

this part ofher decision. AR 948-49. 

The Court of Appeals thus erred when it disregarded RCW 

41.04.445(4). The teachers requested that the Court of Appeals correct its 

error. Opening Br. of Fowler Appellants at 33, 41; Reply Br. of Fowler 

Appellants at 20; RAP 2.5(c)(2) (appellate court can correct an earlier 

decision in a subsequent appeal). The Court of Appeals, however, failed 

to correct the error. 

Accordingly, review is warranted because, due to this error, the 

Court of Appeals decision is contrary to RCW 41.04.445(4) and Dean. 

This raises a matter of substantial public interest concerning the amount of 

interest DRS is statutorily required to pay members when they withdraw 

their money from state retirement accounts. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

2. Review is Warranted Because the Question of Whether DRS 
Violated the Takings Clause of the U.S. Constitution by 
Retaining a Portion of the Interest Earned on the Teachers' 
Mandatory Deposits Meets the Criteria of RAP 13.4(b )(1 ), 
(b)(3), and (b)(4). 

This class action involves an important legal question under the 

United States Constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Specifically, does the 

Takings Clause prohibit DRS from seizing and retaining interest earned on 

public employees' mandatory deposits in state retirement plans when 

- 8-



those employees withdraw the deposits with the accumulated interest? 

The answer is "yes" under decisions by both this Court and the U.S. 

Supreme Court. (If the Court ruled in favor of the teachers on their 

statutory claim for interest, supra, then the Court would not need to reach 

this constitutional claim.) 

This Court recognizes that under "the Takings Clause of the Fifth 

Amendment, 'private property [shall not] be taken for public use, without 

just compensation.' U.S. Const. Amend. V. This provision is applied to 

the states through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." 

Dean, 143 Wn.2d at 31. In Dean, this Court said that interest income is a 

fundamental property right under the U.S. Constitution that states may not 

appropriate without implicating the Takings Clause. !d. at 35, citing 

Schneider, 151 F.3d at 1198, and Phillips v. Washington Legal 

Foundation, 524 U.S. 156, 165-66, 118 S.Ct. 1925 (1998) (IOLTA case). 

In Phillips, the U.S Supreme Court explained that "a State may not 

sidestep the Takings Clause by disavowing property interests" that were 

long ago recognized by the common law, starting before the Constitution 

was adopted. 524 U.S. at 167. And the right to receive the interest earned 

on funds held in an account has been part of the common law for well over 

250 years. !d. at 165. Therefore, "any interest that does accrue" on 

deposited funds is "a property right incident to the ownership of the 

underlying principal." !d. at 168 (Court's emphasis). 
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The common law rule for more than 250 years is that interest is 

earned from the date of deposit until the date of withdrawal, regardless of 

when the interest is paid or posted -- "interest accrues from day to day 

even if payable only at intervals[.]" 32 Halsbury's Laws ofEngland, 

§ 127 Interest in General, p. 78 (4th ed. 2005 Reissue). 7 

Accordingly, the teachers have a constitutionally protected 

property right in all interest that accrues on their mandatory employee 

contributions, from the time the contributions are deposited in the plan to 

the precise date they withdraw their funds from the plan. See Phillips, 524 

U.S. at 165-68. And no statute, rule, or practice can authorize DRS to 

withhold that property without violating the Takings Clause. Dean, 143 

Wn.2d at 34-36; Phillips, 524 U.S. 165-67 and n. 5; Schneider, 151 F.3d at 

1196, 1198-1201. Neither the Legislature nor DRS can "abrogate" this 

pre-Constitution common law property right of the teachers. !d. 

Here, DRS promised the teachers and admitted in discovery 

responses that the teachers' contributions earned "5.5 percent annual 

7 This Court has cited Halsbury's Laws of England for the common law. See, e.g., 
Becker v. Lagerquist, 55 Wn.2d 425,435, 348 P.2d 423 (1960). The Court of Appeals 
accepted Halsbury's statement of the common law of interest as the law ofWashington. 
167 Wn. App. at 189 n. 6; accord, Faulkenbury v. Teachers and State Employees 
Retirement Sys., 515 S.E.2d 743, 746-47 (N.C. App. 1999); Owens v. Graetzel, 126 A. 
224,227 (Md. Ct. App. 1924); Mann v. Anderson, 32 S.E. 870, 871 (Ga. 1899); In re 
Flickwir's Estate, 136 Pa. 374, 382 (Penn. 1890); McKeen's Appeal, 42 Pa. 479 (Penn. 
1862); Clapp v. Astor, 2 Edw.Ch. 379, 6 N.Y. Ch. Ann. 436 (1834). 
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interest compounded quarterly." 8 CP 869-905; AR 207, 232; 167 Wn. 

App. at 183. DRS conceded that it did not pay the teachers all the interest 

their contributions earned at the promised 5.5% per annum rate; indeed, 

the DRS presiding officer said that DRS could pay less than this stated 

rate because she said the regular interest members receive on their 

contributions is "what[ ever] the agency determines it to be, not simply the 

stated [5.5% annual] rate." AR 23, ~33. DRS also admitted that some 

accrued, but not posted, interest is "allocated" to pay the employer-funded 

defined benefits. DRS Resp. Br. at 7. On its face this is a Takings Clause 

violation because the teachers are entitled to all accrued interest earned on 

their principal at the 5.5% annual interest rate, not just the amount that 

DRS decides to "allocate" to the teachers' individual accounts. Dean, 143 

Wn.2d at 34-36; Phillips, 524 U.S. 165-67 and n. 5; Schneider, 151 F.3d at 

1196, 1198-1201. 

DRS tried to justify its seizure of accrued interest by arguing that 

the teachers' contributions are "the property of the retirement system" and 

"members have no property interest in ... their own contributions[.]" 

8 DRS's promise and admission that the teachers' contributions would earn interest on an 
"annual" or "per annum" basis also means the teachers contributions earned interest from 
the date of deposit to the date of withdrawal because annual interest must be calculated 
on a daily basis using a 365-day year. Chern v. Bank of America, 544 P.2d 1310, 1312 
(Cal. 1976); Silverstein v. Shadow Lawn Savings & Loan Ass'n, 237 A.2d 474,481 (N.J. 
1968); In re Oil Spill by the "Amoco Cadiz," 794 F.Supp. 261, 264-66 (N.D. Ill. 1992). 
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DRS Br. [3/24/11] at 1 and 8.9 But DRS's argument that the teachers' 

(employee's) contributions and the interest accrued on those contributions 

are the property of the retirement system directly conflicts with two of this 

Court's opinions. Bowles v. DRS, 121 Wn.2d 52, 847 P.2d 440 (1993); 

State ex rei. State Ret. Bd. v. Yelle, 31 Wn.2d 87,201 P.2d 172 (1948). In 

Bowles, the Court held that "employees contributions [to the retirement 

system] are not public funds" and are instead employee funds of a 

"proprietary nature." 121 Wn.2d at 75. In Yelle the Court held that the 

employee contributions and interest in the employees' individual accounts 

"are not state funds." 31 Wn.2d at 111 (Court's emphasis). One reason 

the Court gave for this holding is that "any member withdrawing his 

contributions from the employees' savings fund is entitled to interest 

thereon[.]" !d. at 113. 

The Court of Appeals' remand of the case and the constitutional 

issue to DRS is also contrary to binding precedent because DRS has no 

competence to rule on the teachers' constitutional takings claim. Indeed, 

the judiciary, not the executive branch, has both the competence and a 

duty to rule on constitutional claims. Miller v. Johnson, 515 U.S. 900, 

922-23, 115 S.Ct. 2475 (1995); In re Juvenile Director, 87 Wn.2d 232, 

241, 552 P.2d 163 (1976). The Court of Appeals thus erred in remanding 

9 
This brief can be found at https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A02/408619%20Respondent's.pdf 

(last accessed on January 29, 2015). 
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the teachers' constitutional claim to DRS for "rulemaking" after 10 years 

of litigation because DRS has no authority to decide the constitutional 

claim through rulemaking or any other procedure. Yakima Clean Air v. 

Glascam Builders, 85 Wn.2d 255,257, 534 P.2d 33 (1975); Bare v. 

Gorton, 84 Wn.2d 380, 383, 526 P.2d 329 (1974). 

The Court of Appeals said that it remanded the constitutional claim 

to DRS, instead of deciding it, because the constitutional claim is 

"speculative" and it would not issue an "advisory opinion" on a "possible" 

dispute. 2014 WL 7462567 at *6. But these statements are based on a 

misstatement of the claim, i.e., the court said that the teachers "argue that 

if the DRS is allowed under RCW 41.50.033 [a 2007 statute] to make and 

apply a new rule, the potential failure to pay interest based on that rule 

will result in an unconstitutional taking." The court said there is no 

present or actual injury breach, therefore, "this argument is premature[.]" 

2014 WL 7462567 at *6 (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals erred because the teachers' claim is not that 

there might be a potential taking of interest based on a new rule; the 

teachers' claim is that the injury already occurred, almost 20 years ago, 

because DRS retained the accrued interest on their deposits when the 

teachers transferred from TRS 2 to TRS 3 in 1996-97 and because DRS, 

for almost 20 years, has invested the teachers' interest for another 

account (employers). There is no possible failure to pay the accrued 
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interest here; there is a completed failure - the injury occurred almost 20 

years ago. And the injury is continuing to harm the teachers because the 

teachers have still not received their property (the accrued interest) and 

they are unable to both direct investment of that property and receive those 

funds when they retire.

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