MAR 3 0 2015

Ronald R. Carpenter

Clerk

NO. 91250-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFFREY PROBST, and a Class of similarly situated individuals,

Plaintiffs,

MICKEY FOWLER, et al., and a class of TRS Plan 3 members,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS,

Defendant-Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MICHAEL E. TARDIF WSBA No. 5833 JEFFREY A.O. FREIMUND WSBA No. 17384 Freimund Jackson & Tardif, PLLC 711 Capitol Way South, Suite 602 Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 534-9960 Attorneys for Respondent Department of Retirement Systems

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Review By This Court Of The Court Of Appeals' Interpretation Of Its Own Mandate Is Not Warranted

As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, the only issue properly before it on appeal was "[w]hether the superior court properly implemented our mandate in *Probst*." *Fowler*, WL 7462567, at *2. Despite averring in the *Fowler* appeal that Plaintiffs' appeal was brought "to enforce [the Court of Appeals'] mandate in *Probst*," Plaintiffs have abandoned this argument in their current Petition, instead attempting to seek untimely review of the merits of the 2012 *Probst* decision. *See* Appellants Opening Br. at 1; Pet. Review at 5-20. Plaintiffs fail to argue why this Court should review the sole issue properly before the Court of Appeals. Thus, this Court should not consider it.

In any event, Plaintiffs may not raise in this Petition the issues decided in *Probst*. If Plaintiffs wanted this Court to review the merits of the *Probst* opinion, they should have petitioned in 2012 for review of the *Probst* opinion.³ Moreover, review of the Court of Appeals' interpretation of its own mandate is not proper under RAP 13.4 and is not merited under the criteria in RAP 13.5, which are the criteria appropriately applied to review of interlocutory decisions.

B. Plaintiffs Cannot Petition For Review Of Issues Decided In The 2012 *Probst* Decision

Plaintiffs' Petition for Review of the unappealed, three-year-old Probst decision should be denied. The Petition violates rules governing both finality of decisions and requests to recall the mandate.

Plaintiffs explicitly identify *Probst v. DRS*, 167 Wn. App. 180, 271 P.3d 966 (2012) as a decision on review and, secondarily, identify the 2014 unpublished Court of Appeals decision confirming the denial of

³ Plaintiffs assert that they could not appeal the earlier decision because they were not aggrieved parties. Pet. Review at 1 n.l. An aggrieved party is one whose "proprietary, pecuniary, or personal rights are substantially affected." State v. G.A.H., 133 Wn. App. 567, 575, 137 P.3d 66 (2006). Here, the Probst opinion rejected the Plaintiffs' claim that they were entitled to common-law daily interest, and held that the DRS Director was given discretion to establish the interest policy. Probst, 167 Wn. App. at 191. Since their claim for daily interest was rejected, which affected their pecuniary interest, Plaintiffs were aggrieved. Plaintiffs' argument seems to be that, although the Probst opinion unequivocally rejected their claim that they were entitled by law to daily interest, they misunderstood the opinion to hold the opposite. See Fowler, 2014 WL 7462567 at *4. Such misunderstandings neither prevented Plaintiffs from being aggrieved by the Probst opinion, nor are they reason to disregard well-established appellate rules regarding finality of opinions.

Plaintiffs' request to recall the *Probst* mandate. Pet. Review at 1. The first three of the four issues raised in the Petition directly challenge the merits of the Court's decision on issues in *Probst*. Pet. Review at 1-2 (issues 1, 2, and 3). The fourth issue mentions the mandate, but it is another attempt to challenge *Probst* because it is a claim that the Court of Appeals failed to use Plaintiffs' request to recall the mandate as a vehicle to "correct the Court of Appeals errors on the merits" in *Probst*. Pet. Review at 2 (issue 4), 20.

Plaintiffs' first issue is alleged error in the *Probst* holding that there is no legal requirement to pay common law daily interest on public pension accounts. Pet. Review at 5-8; *see Probst*, 189-981; *Fowler*, 2014 WL 7462567 at *4 ("we did not hold [in *Probst*] that the DRS was required to pay daily interest"). Plaintiffs' second issue is alleged error in *Probst*'s holding that the Court's decision on statutory grounds rendered unnecessary a decision on Plaintiffs' constitutional "takings" claim. Pet. Review at 8-15; *see Probst*, 167 Wn. App. at 183 n. 1; *Fowler*, 2014 WL 7462567 at *6 (constitutional argument is "premature and is not ripe for

⁴ Plaintiffs claim this Court should accept review to "correct" the Court of Appeals conclusion that RAP 12.9(a) allows a party to question a trial court's compliance with the mandate through a motion to recall the mandate or an appeal, but not both. Pet. Review at 19-20. DRS believes the Court of Appeals correctly understood the use of the disjunctive "or" in RAP 12.9(a). But even if incorrect, Plaintiffs cannot be aggrieved by this decision because the Court of Appeals heard their appeal despite having already denied their motion to recall the mandate. Plaintiffs may not seek review of any issues concerning the disjunctive nature of RAP 12.9 if they are not aggrieved. See RAP 3.1.

review" until DRS develops new interest rules). Plaintiffs' third issue is alleged error in holding that the administrative appeal should be remanded to DRS to develop a rule setting a new interest policy to replace the invalidated policy. Pet. Review at 15-19; *see Probst*, 167 Wn. App. at 194; *Fowler*, at *6 ("The superior court correctly ruled that the APA applied to this case and properly remanded the action to DRS for proceedings consistent with our holding in *Probst*.")

Plaintiffs cannot petition for review of the merits of *Probst* because RAP 12.7 provides that a Court of Appeals decision is final after the Court issues its mandate, unless the Court recalls the mandate, which did not occur here. RAP 12.7(b) states:

(b) Supreme Court. The Supreme Court loses the power to change or modify a decision of the Court of Appeals upon issuance of the mandate of the Court of Appeals in accordance with rule 12.5, except when the mandate is recalled as provided in rule 12.9.

(emphasis added). In this case, when Plaintiffs decided not to petition for review of the *Probst* decision, the mandate issued and Plaintiffs lost their ability to appeal the merits of the *Probst* decision unless and until the mandate was recalled. The Court of Appeals denied Plaintiffs' motion to recall the mandate and resolved their appeal by again rejecting their claim that the trial court did not comply with the mandate. *Fowler*, 2014 WL 7462567 at *2-3.

Plaintiffs do not argue in their Petition that the Court of Appeals incorrectly determined that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in implementing the mandate. *See* Pet. Review. Thus, the mandate recall denial established that the trial court judgment complies with the appellate decision and is the law of the case. *State ex rel. Seattle v. Dep't of Public Utils.*, 33 Wn.2d 896, 903, 207 P.2d 712 (1949).

In arguing that the Court of Appeals erred by failing to reconsider the merits of *Probst* on their appeal requesting recall of the mandate (Pet. Review at 19-20), Plaintiffs misinterpret RAP 12.9. While RAP 12.9 provides for "a separate review of the lower court decision entered after review of the mandate," the "separate review" is not a reconsideration of the merits of the earlier decision. The review concerns whether "the trial court has complied with an earlier decision of the appellate court in the same case." RAP 12.9(a). The "appeal" decides the same issue of trial court compliance with the mandate as a motion to recall the mandate does. Under RAP 12.9, the Court of Appeals review of trial court compliance with the mandate can discuss reasons why the Court did not recall the mandate, but cannot re-adjudicate the issues in the unappealed *Probst* decision.

RAP 12.9 is consistent with long-standing authority prohibiting appellate courts from reconsidering the merits of an appeal on a request to

recall a mandate. See Frye v. King County, 157 Wash. 291, 289 P.2d 18 (1930); Kosten v. Flemming, 17 Wn.2d 500, 136 P.2d 449 (1943). More recently, this Court, citing Kosten, stated:

[W]e reaffirmed the rule that the court may not recall the remittitur [mandate] after it has been transmitted at the end of the time fixed by law or established by practice, for the purpose of altering its judgment or decision.

Reeploeg v. Jensen, 81 Wn.2d 541, 547, 503 P.2d 99 (1972).

The only issues that can be considered after issuance of a mandate are whether there was "inadvertent error, mistake, fraud, or lack of jurisdiction" affecting the appellate court decision, or whether "the lower court has entered a judgment not conforming with the mandate of the court." *Id.* Cases since adoption of RAP 12.9 continue to follow this established law. *E.g., Shumway v. Payne,* 136 Wn.2d 383, 393, 964 P.2d 349 (1998) ("The Court of Appeals then issued its mandate, relieving the appellate courts in this state of jurisdiction to revisit and act on the merits of the case." [citing *Reeploeg*]); *State v. Wade,* 133 Wn. App. 855, 868-9, 138 P.3d 168 (2006) ("We may not recall a mandate for purposes of reexamining the case on its merits." [citing *Shumway* and *Kosten*]).

Plaintiffs' Petition seems to assert that *Bank of America v. Owens*, 177 Wn. App. 181, 311 P.3d 594 (2011), somehow authorizes an appellate court to re-decide an earlier decision when the court decides a motion to

recall a mandate. Pet. Review at 19. Plaintiffs' argument is unclear and is incorrect if this meaning is their intent.

In *Bank of America*, the Supreme Court affirmed a Court of Appeals decision on a complicated lien priority issue in a divorce/bankruptcy case. A party filed both a motion to recall the mandate and a direct appeal to the Supreme Court challenging whether a trial court priority order complied with the appellate decision. The Supreme Court denied recall of the mandate to the Supreme Court, but transferred to the Court of Appeals the appeal of the trial court compliance issue (the same issue as the motion to recall). The Supreme Court had affirmed a Court of Appeals decision on the lien priority issue, so the Court of Appeals was actually the best forum to determine trial court compliance with the appellate decision.

The Court of Appeals decided the mandate issue by giving directions to the trial court about how to comply with the earlier Court of Appeals' decision. *Bank of America*, 177 Wn. App. at 191-94. Neither the Supreme Court nor the Court of Appeals re-adjudicated the merits of the original appellate decision.

Plaintiffs cite RAP 2.5(c), an exception to the law of the case doctrine, as authority for the Court of Appeals to reconsider *Probst* on a second "appeal." *See* Pet. Review at 1 n. 1. RAP 2.5(c)(2) potentially

applies when there are trial court proceedings on a remanded case and there is a new appeal of a new final judgment. This brings the case back before the appellate court. *See Eserhut v. Heister*, 62 Wn. App. 10, 812 P.2d 902 (1991). Here, there was no appeal of a final decision on the remanded administrative matter, but a request to recall the mandate to challenge whether the superior court's remanding of the administrative action to DRS complied with the Court of Appeals' intent. The merits of the remanded matter never came back before the Court of Appeals, so RAP 2.5(c) has no application.⁵ To the extent that Plaintiffs argue for consideration of the merits of *Probst* even if the trial court complied with the mandate (*see* Appellant's Opening Br. at 13), RAP 12.7 bars consideration of the issues unless the mandate is recalled.

C. Plaintiffs Cannot Obtain Review Under RAP 13.4 And Failed To File A Motion For Discretionary Review Of The Interlocutory Decision Under RAP 13.5

Plaintiffs request Supreme Court review by a petition for review under RAP 13.4, which governs review of Court of Appeals decisions terminating review. The Court of Appeals issued a decision on the merits

⁵ The order remanded an administrative action to an administrative agency because, under the APA, the agency, rather than the court, had the jurisdiction to conduct proceedings required by the appellate decision. The APA provides that all original proceedings on administrative matters are at the administrative level; court jurisdiction is appellate only. See RCW 34.05.510; Judd v. Am. Tel. and Tel. Co., 116 Wn. App. 761, 66 P.3d 1102 (2003); Wells Fargo v. Dept. of Revenue, 166 Wn. App. 342, 271 P.3d 268 (2012).

of this case in *Probst* and unconditionally terminated review in 2012. *See* RAP 12.3(a) (definition of decision terminating review). *Probst* is now a final decision not subject to review under RAP 13.4 because the Court of Appeals issued, and did not recall, the *Probst* mandate after expiration of the time that Plaintiffs could seek review of *Probst*. *See* RAP 12.7. Thus, Plaintiffs' arguments that the Supreme Court should accept review of this case, based on considerations governing acceptance of review under RAP 13.4, are improper.

After the Court of Appeals decision on December 30, 2014, the sole possible issue for Supreme Court review would have been the Court of Appeals' interlocutory decision re-affirming its 2013 denial of Plaintiffs' motion to recall the mandate. Review of an interlocutory decision must be sought by filing a motion for discretionary review of the interlocutory decision under RAP 13.5, and satisfying review considerations different from those in RAP 13.4.6 *See* RAP 13.3(c); RAP 13.5(b).

Plaintiffs did not file a motion for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' denial of their request to recall the mandate. Plaintiffs' Petition does not argue that the Court of Appeals erred by failing to recall the mandate. *See* Pet. Review at 19-20. Instead, Plaintiffs argue the Court

⁶ Motions for discretionary review of interlocutory decisions under RAP 13.5 are decided by the Clerk or Commissioner rather that the Court. RAP 13.5(c); RAP 17.2(a).

of Appeals erred by failing to reconsider the merits of *Probst* in response to Plaintiffs' appeal of the mandate issue. *Id.*, at 20. RAP 12.9 governs motions to recall and appeals on mandate issues. Neither this rule nor case law provide any authority to re-adjudicate the merits of a final appellate decision on a request to recall a mandate. *See* pp. 9-13 *supra*.

Plaintiffs cannot satisfy RAP 13.5 considerations for review. The first two considerations require that the Court of Appeals make "obvious" or "probable" errors. RAP 13.5 (b)(1) and (2). Since the mandate recall issue involves the Court of Appeals' interpretation of its own mandate, Plaintiffs have a high bar to reach in showing that the Court was wrong. They do not even attempt to show error, and the Court of Appeals explained fully how the trial court's implementation of the mandate was consistent with its earlier opinion. Fowler, 2014 WL 7462567 at *3-5.

The third RAP 13.5 review consideration requires that there be a departure from "the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings." RAP 13.5(b)(3). Plaintiffs' argument here is that the Court of Appeals erred in its *Probst* decision on the merits or, perhaps, in its interpretation

⁷ If the mandate is not recalled, the lower court (or administrative agency in an APA case) will, in a case in which there are further proceedings after the mandate, make a new decision on the matter remanded by the appellate court. The decision on the remanded matter can then be appealed for review of the new resolution, or even reconsideration of the grounds for the original decision if Plaintiffs can meet RAP 2.5 criteria. The denial of recall of the mandate does not frustrate appellate review of the ultimate outcome of the remanded matter.

of a rule. There is no claim that the Court acted outside its jurisdiction or normal judicial procedures.

D. The Issues In *Probst v. DRS* Were Correctly Decided By The Court Of Appeals In 2012

Most of Plaintiffs' argument in their Petition is about the issues raised or decided in *Probst*. For reasons stated in prior sections, following denial of the motion to recall the mandate, the Court of Appeals' unappealed *Probst* decision, and the superior court judgment implementing that decision, the issues stated in the Petition are no longer subject to review.⁸ Although these issues are not properly before the Supreme Court, DRS will respond briefly to these issues so that the Court is informed of the DRS position on all matters raised in the Petition.

1. Plaintiffs' Claim For Accrued Interest Depends On Acceptance Of Their Rejected Argument That Common Law Requires Statutory Pension Systems To Pay Daily Interest

Plaintiffs contend that DRS statutes require payment of "accrued" interest on pension accounts. Pet. Review at 5-8. The accrued interest Plaintiffs claim they did not receive is daily interest. *Id.* at 6. *Probst* held that there was no legal requirement for DRS to pay daily interest. *Probst*,

⁸ Any new rules adopted and decisions made by DRS on remand to implement the *Probst* decision are subject to review under APA procedures in the same manner that the original policies/orders were subject to review.

167 Wn. App. at 191; *Fowler*, 2014 WL 7462567 at *4. Therefore, failure to pay daily interest did not deprive Plaintiffs of interest accrued on sums in their accounts.

2. Plaintiffs' Takings Claims Are Either Premature Or Moot

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